William's army had been augmented by a body of Danish troops under the Duke of Württemberg. An Irish Jacobite appeal deplored William's conduct in summoning 'the old invaders of our country, the Danes, who held our ancestors in a war of 300 years'.”

Some Commemorative British Place-Names in Dublin City

Breandán S. Mac Aodha
University College, Galway

A surprisingly large number of place-names derived from Britain have been incorporated into the toponymy of Ireland's capital city. This has happened in a circuitous fashion, as most of the names in question formed parts of titles of individuals who were honoured by Dublin Corporation in times gone by. In many cases, those to whom the streets or other features of the urban landscape were dedicated have long since been forgotten, but the toponymic elements in their titles have survived to become a familiar part of the urban scene. The titles in question were usually held by major landowners on whose goodwill the Corporation was dependent, or by senior figures in the former British administration in Ireland, or by past or present members of the Corporation itself. A selection of such names follows.

Aberdeen Street was named after the Earl of Aberdeen, who was the English Lord Lieutenant (or Governor) in 1886 and again in 1905. Aldborough Court and Aldborough Place, both built around the year 1800, were so called from their proximity to Aldborough House (1796), the home of Viscount Aldborough, whose family came from Aldeburgh in Norfolk. Anglesea Street incorporates a corrupt form of Anglesey, and is so called from a local land-owner, Arthur Annesley, first Earl of Anglesey. Arran Quay (1728) was called after Charles Butler, the Earl of Arran. He was Lord Lieutenant for two

2 McCready, op. cit., p. 2.

periods—between 1703 and 1707 and again between 1711 and 1713. Bedford Row owes its origin to an earlier Lord Lieutenant, the fourth Duke of Bedford.7 Buckingham Street, too, has a similar origin: the Marquis of Buckingham was holder of the office on a few occasions in the closing decades of the eighteenth century.4 Carlisle Bridge (now O’Connell Bridge), Street, Court, and Place were all called after various Earls of Carlisle who held the office in 1780–82, 1855–58, and 1859–64.7 Chatham Street was named after William Pitt (1759–1806), who was a son of the first Earl of Chatham.8 Clare in Suffolk is commemorated indirectly in Dublin’s Clare Street, after John Holles, who was created Earl of Clare in 1624.9

William Augustus, the Bloody Duke of Cumberland (1721–65),10 who was responsible for the massacre of so many of the Scottish Highlanders after the battle of Culloden, is the source of Cumberland Street: the colonists of the Irish capital sought to prove their loyalty to London by honouring even this most unsavoury member of the English royalty. Superficially, Eglinton Terrace derived its name from the Earl of Eglinton (1812–61), another holder of the office of Lord Lieutenant (1852–53 and 1858–59).11 The Eglinton in question in the title is the Derry village known in Irish as An Mhagh (‘the plain’),12 but this in turn borrowed the English version of its name from Eglinton in Ayrshire.13 Elgin Road was so designated in honour of

---

14 McCready, op. cit., p. 34. For biographical details, see Burke’s Peerage, p. 591.
15 McCready, op. cit., p. 35.
16 McCready, op. cit., p. 35. See also Burke’s Peerage, p. 616.
17 McCready, op. cit., p. 44.
18 McCready, op. cit., p. 45. Biographical details of Henry Fitzroy, first Duke of Grafton, may be found in Burke’s Peerage, p. 737.
19 Hammerston, op. cit., p. 488.
20 Hammerston, op. cit., p. 489.
21 McCready, op. cit., p. 45.
23 McCready, op. cit., p. 47. Presumably the Haddington in question was the county town of East Lothian; see Chamber’s World Gazetteer, edited by David Munro (Cambridge, 1938), p. 254.
Sir William Petty (1623–87), through his compilation of the first atlas of Ireland, *Hiberniae Delineatio* (1685), and his detailed maps of 214 baronies, facilitated the confiscation of Irish land from its rightful owners in the post-Cromwellian period. He himself was one of the principal beneficiaries. About a century later, in 1784, his great-grandson, William Fitzmaurice, was created Marquis of Lansdowne. The place named in that title is located near Bath in Somerset. Lansdowne Road, in south Dublin, occupies a small portion of the extensive Lansdowne lands over which the city has now sprawled. It was built in 1855, eleven years before the death of the fourth Marquis.

The name Lincoln Place was substituted for Park Street, which had acquired a bad reputation, in 1862. Why the name of that English cathedral city or county was chosen is unclear. Similar mystery surrounds the selection (in 1868) of Liverpool Road for a street near the Grand Canal.

The Duke of Marlborough (1650–1722) is commemorated in Marlborough Street, which was constructed in 1728. His title came from the small market town on the River Kennet in Wiltshire. Northumberland Road commemorated Hugh Percy, third Duke of Northumberland, who was still another holder (1829–30) of the office of Lord Lieutenant. Northumberland Street honoured his namesake and predecessor, the first Duke, who held the same position from 1763–65. The road was named in 1832, the street in 1776.

The Earls of Fitzwilliam owned much land in Dublin in the eighteenth century. One of them, William Wentworth Fitzwilliam (1741–1833) was Lord Lieutenant in 1795. Fitzwilliam Street, Square and Lane were all named in honour of him. When the seventh Viscount Fitzwilliam died unmarried in 1816, most of the estate passed to the eleventh Earl of Pembroke. One outcome of this transfer of ownership was the renaming of Blackrock Road as Pembroke Road in 1834. Earlier, in 1796, the same family name had given rise to Pembroke Street, and earlier still, in 1756, to Pembroke Quay (now Sarsfield Quay).

An island and urban district in Dorset figure in the title of the Dukes of Portland. The third Duke, who was Lord Lieutenant in 1782, is remembered in Portland Street, which was built in 1793. Similarly, Charles Lennox, the fourth Duke of Richmond, Lord Lieutenant from 1807 until 1813, is commemorated in Richmond Street South, which was constructed in 1817, and also in the neighbouring Lennox Street (1832) and Lennox Place (1834). Rutland entered Dublin toponymy via Charles Manners (1754–87), fourth Duke of Rutland, whose period of office as Lord Lieutenant stretched from 1784 until his death in 1787. Rutland Street came into being five years later, as did Rutland Square (now Parnell Square).

There is a faint chance that the former Sandwich Street (now Townsend Street South) derived its name from the sixth Earl of Sandwich: more probably, however, it is a corruption of Sandwith.

---

26 Hammerton, op. cit., p. 647.
27 McCready, op. cit., p. 56.
28 McCready, op. cit., p. 59.
29 McCready, op. cit., p. 59.
30 A detailed account of his life is given in the *DNB*, IV, 315–338.
31 McCready, op. cit., p. 63.
32 Hammerton, op. cit., p. 711.
33 McCready, op. cit., p. 97. For biographical details, see *DNB*, XV, 867–68, where Peel’s description of him is quoted: ‘the best chief-governor that ever presided over the affairs of Ireland’.
Street, its current spelling, and was called after a merchant of that surname.\(^4\) The title of the Earl of Suffolk was created in 1603, but the precise linkage of that title with Suffolk Street (1728) is unclear. Uxbridge Street (1832), now obsolete, owed its origins to one of the titles (Earl of Uxbridge) of the Marquess of Anglesey, who was one of Dublin’s major landowners.\(^5\) Presumably the Uxbridge in question is the district in west London.\(^4\) Another borrowing from London was Wapping Street: once again, the linkage is obscure. Watling Street, too, may be a similar borrowing, though the name is recorded as Twatling Street in Brooking’s map of 1728 and in various other sources. However, the initial t may merely be an abbreviation of the preposition at.\(^5\)

The military exploits of Arthur Wellesley, Duke of Wellington (1769–1852), made him the lion of Dublin society in the early nineteenth century.\(^6\) A bridge, a quay, a road, a square, a street and a place were all named in his honour. His title came from the little market town in Somerset.\(^7\) The namings began with Wellington Bridge (popularly called the Metal Bridge, because it is constructed of iron) in 1816, and ended with Wellington Road in 1846.\(^8\)

One of the principal streets in central Dublin is called Westmoreland Street (1801) after John Fane, tenth Earl of Westmorland, who was Lord Lieutenant from 1790 until 1794.\(^9\) Wilton Terrace, in Lower Baggot Street, derived its name from Wilton, near Salisbury, in Wiltshire.\(^10\) This was the seat of the Earls of Pembroke, who inherited practically all the Fitzwilliam property in

---

\(^4\) McCready, op. cit., p. 115.
\(^5\) McCready, op. cit., p. 137; see note 3 above.
\(^6\) McCready, op. cit., pp. 140 and 136.
\(^7\) Details of Wellington’s life and military career appear in the DNB XX, 1081–1115. Biographies are numerous; one such, by a descendant, is Elizabeth Longford, Wellington: the Years of the Sword (London, 1969).
\(^8\) Hammerton, op. cit., p. 1001.
\(^9\) McCready, op. cit., pp. 140–141, 90 and 12. Waterloo Road commemorates Wellington’s major victory of 18th June 1815.
\(^10\) McCready, op. cit., p. 141. Details of the family appear in Burke’s Peerage, pp. 1739–42.
\(^11\) Hammerton, op. cit., p. 1009.